

Prepared in cooperation with the Kansas Water Office

Linear Regression Model Documentation for Computing Water-Quality Constituent Concentrations using Continuous Real-Time Water-Quality Data for the Republican River, Clay Center, Kansas, July 2018 through March 2021



Scientific Investigations Report 2022–5016

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

Cover. Photograph showing the Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, at low flow on October 26, 2021, taken by Justin Abel, U.S. Geological Survey.

Linear Regression Model Documentation for Computing Water-Quality Constituent Concentrations using Continuous Real-Time Water-Quality Data for the Republican River, Clay Center, Kansas, July 2018 through March 2021

By Brianna M. Leiker

Prepared in cooperation with the Kansas Water Office

Scientific Investigations Report 2022–5016

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2022

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment—visit https://www.usgs.gov or call 1–888–ASK–USGS.

For an overview of USGS information products, including maps, imagery, and publications, visit https://store.usgs.gov/.

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this information product, for the most part, is in the public domain, it also may contain copyrighted materials as noted in the text. Permission to reproduce copyrighted items must be secured from the copyright owner.

Suggested citation:

Leiker, B.M., 2022, Linear regression model documentation for computing water-quality constituent concentrations using continuous real-time water-quality data for the Republican River, Clay Center, Kansas, July 2018 through March 2021: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2022–5016, 13 p., https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20225016.

Associated data for this publication:

U.S. Geological Survey, 2021, USGS water data for the Nation: U.S. Geological Survey National Water Information System database, https://doi.org/10.5066/F7P55KJN.

ISSN 2328-0328 (online)

Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	1
Purpose and Scope	3
Description of Study Area	3
Methods	3
Continuous Streamflow and Water-Quality Monitoring	3
Discrete Water-Quality Sampling	3
Quality Assurance and Quality Control of Continuous and Discrete Water-Quality Data	4
Development of Regression Models	5
Regression Models Used for Computing Constituents of Interest	7
Suspended-Sediment Concentration	7
Total Nitrogen, Total Phosphorus, and Total Carbon	7
Summary	7
References Cited	8
Appendix 1. Model Archive Summary for Suspended Sediment at U.S. Geological	
Survey Station 06856600, Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, during	10
July 2018 through March 2021	10
Appendix 2. Model Archive Summary for Total Nitrogen at U.S. Geological Survey	
through March 2021	11
Appendix 3. Model Archive Summary for Total Phosphorus at U.S. Geological Survey	
Station 06856600, Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, during July 2018	
through March 2021	12
Appendix 4. Model Archive Summary for Total Carbon at U.S. Geological Survey	
Station uboobbuu, Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, during July 2018	10
	เง

Figures

1.	Map showing land use in the Republican River drainage basin upstream from Milford Lake, Kansas	2
2.	Graph showing streamflow duration curve and discrete water-quality samples collected at the Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, streamgage during July 2018 through March 2021	4

Tables

1.	Linear regression models and summary statistics for computation of
	continuous water-quality constituent concentrations for the Republican River
	at Clay Center, Kansas, using data collected during July 2018 through March 20216

Conversion Factors

U.S. customary units to International System of Units

Multiply	Ву	To obtain					
Length							
inch (in.)	2.54	centimeter (cm)					
inch (in.)	25.4	millimeter (mm)					
foot (ft)	0.3048	meter (m)					
mile (mi)	1.609	kilometer (km)					
	Area						
square mile (mi ²)	259.0	hectare (ha)					
square mile (mi ²)	2.590	square kilometer (km ²)					
	Flow rate	e					
cubic foot per second (ft ³ /s)	0.02832	cubic meter per second (m ³ /s)					

International System of Units to U.S. customary units

Multiply	Ву	To obtain			
	Length				
millimeter (mm)	0.03937	inch (in.)			

Temperature in degrees Fahrenheit (°F) may be converted to degrees Celsius (°C) as follows:

°C = (°F – 32) / 1.8.

Datum

Horizontal coordinate information is referenced to the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83).

Supplemental Information

Concentrations of chemical constituents in water are given in milligrams per liter (mg/L). Concentrations of nitrogen species in water are given in milligrams per liter (mg/L) as nitrogen. Concentrations of phosphorus species in water are given in milligrams per liter (mg/L) as phosphorus.

Total nitrogen is the sum of total Kjeldahl nitrogen (U.S. Geological Survey parameter code 00625, also known as ammonia plus organic nitrogen) and dissolved nitrate plus nitrite (U.S. Geological Survey parameter code 00631).

Turbidity values are given in formazin nephelometric units.

Abbreviations

- BMP best management practice
- log₁₀ logarithm base 10
- MSE model standard error
- R^2_{adj} adjusted coefficient of determination
- RPD relative percentage difference
- TKN total Kjeldahl nitrogen
- TN total nitrogen
- TP total phosphorus
- USGS U.S. Geological Survey

Linear Regression Model Documentation for Computing Water-Quality Constituent Concentrations using Continuous Real-Time Water-Quality Data for the Republican River, Clay Center, Kansas, July 2018 through March 2021

By Brianna M. Leiker

Abstract

The Republican River is the primary inflow to Milford Lake and drains areas of Kansas, Nebraska, and Colorado. Milford Lake has been listed as impaired and designated hypereutrophic by the Kansas Department of Health and Environment because of excessive nutrient loading. Milford Lake had confirmed harmful algal blooms every summer from 2011 through 2017 and in 2020 and 2021.

In the lower Republican River drainage basin, the Regional Conservation Partnership Program, administered by the Natural Resources Conservation Service, provides reimbursement to agricultural producers that implement best management practices intended to decrease sediment and nutrient runoff and loading into Milford Lake. Sediment and nutrient loads could potentially be driving factors in the development of harmful algal blooms in the reservoir.

Since July 2018, the U.S. Geological Survey, in cooperation with the Kansas Water Office, has collected continuous and discrete water-quality data at the Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, streamgage (U.S. Geological Survey station 06856600), which is about 15 river miles upstream from Milford Lake. This report documents site-specific regression models for the computation of continuous concentrations of suspended sediment, total nitrogen, total phosphorus, and total carbon developed using continuous and discrete data collected from July 24, 2018, the date of continuous water-quality monitor installation, through March 31, 2021. The objective of this study is to characterize sediment and nutrient transport in the Milford Lake drainage basin before, during, and after best management practice implementation using the models described in this report.

The explanatory variable turbidity explained a high amount (72–96 percent) of the variance in suspendedsediment, total nitrogen, total phosphorus, and total carbon concentrations. Statistical plots for the four selected models showed the desired normality and homoscedasticity in residuals, and model standard error ratios indicated that recomputing each selected model after removing a randomly selected 10 percent of the data did not substantially change model coefficients.

Introduction

The Republican River is the primary inflow to Milford Lake and drains areas of Kansas, Nebraska, and Colorado. Milford Lake, the largest reservoir by surface area in Kansas, has been listed as impaired and designated hypereutrophic by the Kansas Department of Health and Environment because of excessive nutrient loading (Kansas Department of Health and Environment, 2014). Milford Lake had confirmed harmful algal blooms every summer from 2011 through 2017 and in 2020 and 2021 (Kansas Department of Health and Environment, 2020).

The lower Republican River drainage basin begins at Scandia, Kansas, (U.S. Geological Survey [USGS] station 06854500; fig. 1) and continues about 10 river miles downstream from Milford Lake to where the Republican River and the Smoky Hill River combine to form the Kansas River (fig. 1). The Kansas River provides drinking water for about 800,000 people in northeastern Kansas (J. Kenny, U.S. Geological Survey, written commun., March 27, 2011), about one-quarter of the Kansas population.

In the lower Republican River drainage basin, the Regional Conservation Partnership Program, administered by the Natural Resources Conservation Service, provides reimbursement to agricultural producers that implement best management practices (BMPs) intended to decrease sediment and nutrient runoff and loading into Milford Lake from August 2018 through August 2022 (Milford Watershed Regional Conservation Partnership Program, 2021). Sediment and nutrient loads could potentially be driving factors in the development of harmful algal blooms in the reservoir.



Figure 1. Land use in the Republican River drainage basin upstream from Milford Lake, Kansas.

N

Since July 2018, the USGS, in cooperation with the Kansas Water Office, has collected continuous and discrete water-quality data at the Republican River at Clay Center, Kans., streamgage (USGS station 06856600), hereafter referred to as "Clay Center." The objective of this study is to characterize sediment and nutrient transport in the Milford Lake drainage basin before, during, and after BMP implementation using the models described in this report.

Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this report is to document site-specific regression models that continuously compute water-quality constituent concentrations using statistical relations between continuous and discrete water-quality data collected from Clay Center. These regression models characterize water-quality conditions of the Republican River about 15 river miles upstream from Milford Lake, Kans. Specifically, this report documents site-specific regression models for the computation of continuous concentrations of suspended sediment, total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus (TP), and total carbon developed using continuous and discrete water-quality data collected from July 24, 2018, the date of continuous water-quality monitor installation, through March 31, 2021. The real-time, model-estimated computations of water-quality concentrations and loads are available at https://nrtwq.usgs.gov/.

Description of Study Area

The Republican River drains areas of Kansas, Nebraska, and Colorado (fig. 1). The total drainage area for the Republican River upstream from Clay Center is 17,042 square miles. The drainage area for the lower Republican River between Scandia and Clay Center is 982 square miles. Land use in the lower Republican River drainage basin is predominantly agricultural: 56 percent is planted/cultivated and 31 percent is herbaceous (according to the National Land Cover Database 2019; Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium, 2021). Mean annual precipitation at Clay Center is 30.9 inches; most (22.6 inches, 73 percent) precipitation typically falls during the spring and summer (April 1 through September 30; for years 1981–2010; PRISM Climate Group, 2021). Daily mean temperature ranges from 29.1 degrees Fahrenheit in January to 79.7 degrees Fahrenheit in July (for years 1981–2010; PRISM Climate Group, 2021).

Methods

Continuous and discrete water-quality data were collected at Clay Center from July 2018 through March 2021. Streamflow, water temperature, specific conductance, pH, dissolved oxygen, and turbidity were measured continuously in stream. Discrete water-quality samples collected over a range of hydrologic conditions (fig. 2) were used with continuous data to develop site-specific linear regression models for water-quality constituents.

Continuous Streamflow and Water-Quality Monitoring

Streamflow data have been collected at Clay Center since June 1917 (U.S. Geological Survey, 2021). Continuously measured (15-minute) streamflow data from July 2018 through March 2021 were collected according to standard USGS methods (Sauer and Turnipseed, 2010; Turnipseed and Sauer, 2010; Painter and Loving, 2015). Continuously measured (15-minute) water-quality data collection at Clay Center began on July 24, 2018. During July 2018 through March 2021 a YSI, Inc., EXO3 multiparameter sonde measured water temperature, specific conductance, pH, dissolved oxygen, and turbidity (YSI, Inc., 2017). The water-quality monitor was suspended from the downstream side of the bridge deck of Kansas Highway 18 (not shown) in the deepest and fastest flowing water. The continuous water-quality monitor was operated and maintained according to standard USGS methods (Wagner and others, 2006; Bennett and others, 2014). All streamflow and continuous water-quality data at Clay Center are available in near-real time (updated hourly) from the USGS National Water Information System database (U.S. Geological Survey, 2021) using the station number 06856600.

Discrete Water-Quality Sampling

Equal-width-increment samples (as described in U.S. Geological Survey, 2006) were collected from the downstream side of the bridge using a Federal Interagency Sedimentation Project US DH-95 depth-integrated sampler with a Teflon bottle, cap, and nozzle and a manually operated reel. Subsamples from 10 equally spaced verticals were composited. Samples were collected during stable and runoff conditions so that water-quality samples were collected over a range of hydrologic conditions (fig. 2). Sample collection generally was completed in 1 hour or less, and sample time was assigned as the next 10-minute time interval (for example, 10:00, 10:10, 10:20, and so on) after the final subsample was collected. Instantaneous water-quality data were collected near the water surface during discrete sampling, regardless of water depth. Over the study period, the mean depth of water across the river cross section during discrete sampling was between 1.3 and 12 feet, and the median value was 3.3 feet. During July 2018 through June 2020, discrete water-quality samples were collected at Clay Center biweekly during May through October and monthly during November through April. During July 2020 through March 2021, discrete water-quality samples were collected about monthly. During the study period, 42 water-quality samples were collected.



Figure 2. Streamflow duration curve and discrete water-quality samples collected at the Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, streamgage (U.S. Geological Survey station 06856600) during July 2018 through March 2021.

Water-quality samples were analyzed for total and particulate nitrogen and phosphorus species and for total carbon at the USGS National Water Quality Laboratory in Lakewood, Colorado, according to standard methods (Patton and Truitt, 1992, 2000; Fishman, 1993; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1997; Patton and Kryskalla, 2003, 2011). The suspended-sediment concentration and percentage of fines (percentage of sediment particles less than 0.0625 millimeter in diameter; useful for quality assurance) were analyzed at the USGS Iowa Sediment Laboratory in Iowa City, Iowa, using methods described by Guy (1969).

Quality Assurance and Quality Control of Continuous and Discrete Water-Quality Data

Continuous and discrete water-quality data were reviewed and approved on a quarterly basis during the study period in accordance with USGS policies and guidance (U.S. Geological Survey, 2016, 2017) and USGS Kansas Water Science Center quality-assurance plans (Rasmussen and others, 2014). Continuous water-quality data occasionally were corrected because of fouling and sensor calibration drift (Wagner and others, 2006; Bennett and others, 2014). Data values may be missing from the continuous record because of equipment malfunction, ice, or other factors. Between July 24, 2018, and March 31, 2021, about 7 percent of the water temperature record, 9 percent of the specific conductance record, 8 percent of the dissolved oxygen record, 10 percent of the pH record, and 10 percent of the turbidity record were missing or deleted. Missing water-quality data were not estimated.

About 10 percent of all discrete samples collected were quality-control samples: concurrent replicate samples and field-blank samples. During the study period, three concurrent replicate samples (one per year) were collected to assess bias and variability introduced by sample collection, processing, and analytical methods. The relative percentage difference (RPD) was used to evaluate differences for each replicate pair of constituents. The RPD was calculated by dividing the absolute difference between the replicate values by the mean of the replicate values and multiplying by 100. The RPDs for dissolved nitrate plus nitrite, total Kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN), and TP were 2 percent or less, and the RPDs for total carbon were 27 percent or less. The RPDs for suspended sediment were 10 percent or less for two of the replicate sets; the RPD for the third replicate set was not available because sand particles included in the sediment sample affected the data quality of one of the replicate pairs and the affected results were rejected.

Two field-blank samples were collected between July 2018 and March 2021 to assess bias caused by sampling, field processing, and analytical methods (Mueller and others, 2015). The blank samples were analyzed for nitrogen, phosphorus, and carbon; blank samples were not analyzed for suspended sediment. Generally, field-blank-sample concentrations were less than or equal to laboratory reporting levels for all constituents except total carbon. Total carbon was detected at concentrations greater than the reporting limit of 0.05 milligram per liter (mg/L) in both blank samples. For both blank-sample detections, total carbon was 5 percent or less of the concentration of the corresponding environmental sample (blank sample concentration 0.49 mg/L with corresponding environmental sample concentration 9.37 mg/L and blank sample concentration 0.08 mg/L with corresponding environmental sample concentration 2.19 mg/L). Neither blanksample detection of total carbon exceeded 0.62 mg/L, the lowest environmental sample concentration measured between July 2018 and March 2021.

Development of Regression Models

Ordinary least squares linear regression analysis was used to develop surrogate regression models that relate continuous water-quality sensor measurements to discretely sampled constituent concentrations. Models for suspended sediment, TN, TP, and total carbon were developed to compute continuous estimates of constituent concentration. Model archive summaries containing exploratory, statistical, and cross-validation plots and the model-calibration datasets and definitions are provided in appendixes 1–4. No censored (less than laboratory reporting limit) results were in the suspended sediment, TN, TP, and total carbon datasets.

TN is the sum of TKN (USGS parameter code 00625, also known as ammonia plus organic nitrogen) and dissolved nitrate plus nitrite (USGS parameter code 00631). In the TN dataset, seven samples had censored nitrate plus nitrite results (less than 0.01 mg/L as nitrogen; data available in appendix 2). No samples had censored TKN results. For all seven of the samples with censored nitrate plus nitrate results, the corresponding TKN result was greater than 1.0 mg/L as nitrogen

and had only one decimal place; therefore, the sum of TKN and dissolved nitrate plus nitrite was limited to one decimal place, and the censored nitrate plus nitrite result did not affect the sum calculation of TN. Thus, no censored results were in the TN dataset.

All regression models were developed using R software environment (R Core Team, 2021). Potential explanatory variables evaluated individually and in combination were continuous streamflow, water temperature, specific conductance, dissolved oxygen, pH, and turbidity. Explanatory and response variables were transformed by logarithm base 10 (\log_{10}), if necessary, to develop a linear relation. The potential explanatory variables were interpolated within the 15-minute continuous record based on discrete sample collection time. The maximum time span between two continuous data points used for interpolation was 5 hours. Seasonal components (sine and cosine variables) also were evaluated as potential explanatory variables.

Potential regression models were evaluated based on normality and homoscedasticity in residual values. Residual values are the difference between the measured and predicted values. Homoscedastic plots are those in which the magnitude of residual values does not change substantially over the range of predicted values; that is, the magnitude of residual values neither increases nor decreases over the range of predicted values and the variance is constant. The best performing models were selected based on the appearance of the residual plots, fairly high adjusted coefficient of determination (R^2_{adi}) values compared to other models considered, and fairly low model standard percentage error compared to other models considered (Rasmussen and others, 2009; Helsel and others, 2020). Sensitivity of the selected model to outliers was checked using the ratio of the mean model standard error (MSE) of folds to the MSE of the selected model, called the MSE ratio. The residual plots and aforementioned statistics and metrics are included in each constituent's model archive summary (appendixes 1-4). Relevant sample data and more indepth statistical information also are available in appendixes 1-4. The linear regression models and selected statistics are listed in table 1.

Table 1. Linear regression models and summary statistics for computation of continuous water-quality constituent concentrations for the Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas (U.S. Geological Survey station 06856600), using data collected during July 2018 through March 2021.

 $[R^2_{adj}]$, adjusted coefficient of determination; MSPE, model standard percentage error; MSE ratio, ratio of mean model standard error of folds to model standard error of selected regression model; *n*, number of discrete samples used in model development; $\log_{10^{\circ}}$ logarithm base 10; *SSC*, suspended-sediment concentration, in milligrams per liter; *TBY*, continuous turbidity value, in formazin nephelometric units; App., appendix; *TN*, total nitrogen, in milligrams per liter as nitrogen; *TP*, total phosphorus, in milligrams per liter as phosphorus; --, not applicable; *totC*, total carbon, in milligrams per liter]

	B4 - 1 - 1			MSE ratio	Duan's bias — correction factor ¹		Discrete data used in model development dataset				
Regression model	Model archive summary	R ² _{adj}	Mean MSPE			п	Percent censored	Range of values in variable measure- Mean ments	Median		
log ₁₀ SSC=+0.934×log ₁₀ TBY+0.608	App. 1	0.963	25.4	1.11000	1.03	42	0	<i>SSC</i> : 14–2,350 <i>TBY</i> : 5.47–810	449 155	184 56	
$\log_{10}TN = +0.344 \times \log_{10}TBY = -0.258$	App. 2	0.719	29.7	1.06000	1.04	42	0	<i>TN</i> : 1.00–7.8 <i>TBY</i> : 5.47–810	2.8 155	2.0 56	
<i>TP</i> =+0.00254× <i>TBY</i> +0.3	App. 3	0.916	21.3	0.995000		42	0	<i>TP</i> : 0.20–2.4 <i>TBY</i> : 5.47–810	0.70 155	0.50 56	
<i>totC</i> =+0.0566× <i>TBY</i> +2.39	App. 4	0.888	34.6	1.05		42	0	<i>totC</i> : 0.62–44.3 <i>TBY</i> : 5.47–810	10.5 155	7.08 56	

¹Duan (1983); Helsel and others (2020).

Regression Models Used for Computing Constituents of Interest

Linear regression models that compute concentrations of suspended sediment, TN, TP, and total carbon were developed using data from 42 discrete samples collected during the study period, July 2018 through March 2021 (U.S. Geological Survey, 2021).

Suspended-Sediment Concentration

The single explanatory variable used in the suspendedsediment model was turbidity, which explained about 96 percent of the variance (R^2_{adj} value; table 1; Helsel and others, 2020) in suspended-sediment concentration (appendix 1). Turbidity is an indicator of sediment and other suspended material transported in a stream, and turbidity is therefore a logical explanatory variable for suspended-sediment concentration. Statistical plots for the log₁₀-transformed model (appendix 1) showed the desired normality and homoscedasticity in residuals. The cross-validation plot for the model (appendix 1) had an MSE ratio of 1.11000 (table 1; appendix 1), which was close to the ideal value of 1.0. The MSE ratio near 1.0 indicated that recomputing the model after removing a randomly selected 10 percent of the data did not substantially change the model coefficients.

The \log_{10} -transformed model provided in appendix 1 may be retransformed to the original units so that the suspendedsediment concentration can be calculated directly. The retransformation introduces a negative bias in the retransformed calculated constituent (Helsel and others, 2020). The bias may be corrected using Duan's bias correction factor (Duan, 1983; Helsel and others, 2020), which is provided in table 1 and appendix 1.

Total Nitrogen, Total Phosphorus, and Total Carbon

The single explanatory variable used for TN, TP, and total carbon was turbidity. Turbidity explained about 72 percent of the variance (R^2_{adj} value; table 1; Helsel and others, 2020) in the TN concentration (appendix 2), about 92 percent of the variance in the TP concentration (appendix 3), and about 89 percent of the variance in the total carbon concentration (appendix 4). Turbidity is an indicator of sediment and other suspended material (including some with attached nutrients, like nitrogen, phosphorus, and carbon) transported in a stream, and turbidity is therefore a logical explanatory variable for TN, TP, and total carbon concentrations.

Statistical plots for the \log_{10} -transformed TN model (appendix 2), untransformed TP model (appendix 3), and untransformed total carbon model (appendix 4) showed the desired normality and homoscedasticity in residuals. The cross-validation plot for the TN model (appendix 2) had an

MSE ratio of 1.06000 (table 1; appendix 2), which was close to the ideal value of 1.0. This ratio was 0.995000 for the TP model (table 1; appendix 3) and 1.05 for the total carbon model (table 1; appendix 4). Each MSE ratio near 1.0 indicated that recomputing the model after removing a randomly selected 10 percent of the data did not substantially change the model coefficients.

The \log_{10} -transformed TN model provided in appendix 2 may be retransformed to the original units so that the TN concentration can be calculated directly. The retransformation introduces a negative bias in the retransformed calculated constituent (Helsel and others, 2020). The bias may be corrected using Duan's bias correction factor (Duan, 1983; Helsel and others, 2020), which is provided in table 1 and appendix 2.

Summary

The Republican River is the primary inflow to Milford Lake and drains areas of Kansas, Nebraska, and Colorado. Milford Lake has been listed as impaired and designated hypereutrophic by the Kansas Department of Health and Environment because of excessive nutrient loading. Milford Lake had confirmed harmful algal blooms every summer from 2011 through 2017 and in 2020 and 2021.

In the lower Republican River drainage basin, the Regional Conservation Partnership Program, administered by the Natural Resources Conservation Service, provides reimbursement to agricultural producers that implement best management practices intended to decrease sediment and nutrient runoff and loading into Milford Lake. Sediment and nutrient loads could potentially be driving factors in the development of harmful algal blooms in the reservoir.

Since July 2018, the U.S. Geological Survey, in cooperation with the Kansas Water Office, has collected continuous and discrete water-quality data at the Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, streamgage (U.S. Geological Survey station 06856600; hereafter referred to as "Clay Center"). The purpose of this report is to document site-specific regression models that continuously compute water-quality constituent concentrations using statistical relations between continuous and discrete water-quality data collected at Clay Center, which is about 15 river miles upstream from Milford Lake. Specifically, this report documents site-specific regression models for the computation of continuous concentrations of suspended sediment, total nitrogen, total phosphorus, and total carbon developed using continuous and discrete water-quality data collected from July 24, 2018, the date of continuous water-quality monitor installation, through March 31, 2021. The objective of this study is to characterize sediment and nutrient transport in the Milford Lake drainage basin before, during, and after best management practice implementation using the models described in this report.

8 Linear Regression Model Documentation for the Republican River, Clay Center, Kansas, July 2018 through March 2021

Continuous and discrete water-quality data were collected at Clay Center from July 2018 through March 2021. Streamflow, water temperature, specific conductance, pH, dissolved oxygen, and turbidity were measured in stream. A total of 42 discrete water-quality samples were collected using the equal-width-increment sampling technique that composited subsamples from across the river cross section. Discrete water-quality samples collected over a range of hydrologic conditions at the site during the study period were used to develop site-specific linear regression models for water-quality constituents.

The explanatory variable turbidity explained a high amount (72–96 percent) of the variance in suspendedsediment, total nitrogen, total phosphorus, and total carbon concentrations. Statistical plots for the four selected models showed the desired normality and homoscedasticity in residuals, and model standard error ratios indicated that recomputing each selected model after removing a randomly selected 10 percent of the data did not substantially change model coefficients.

References Cited

- Bennett, T.J., Graham, J.L., Foster, G.M., Stone, M.L., Juracek, K.E., Rasmussen, T.J., and Putnam, J.E., 2014, U.S. Geological Survey quality-assurance plan for continuous water-quality monitoring in Kansas, 2014: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2014–1151, 34 p. plus appendixes, accessed June 17, 2021, at https://doi.org/ 10.3133/ofr20141151.
- Duan, N., 1983, Smearing estimate—A nonparametric retransformation method: Journal of the American Statistical Association, v. 78, no. 383, p. 605–610. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1983.10478017.]
- Fishman, M.J., ed., 1993, Methods of analysis by the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory— Determination of inorganic and organic constituents in water and fluvial sediments: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 93–125, 217 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/ 10.3133/ofr93125.]
- Guy, H.P., 1969, Laboratory theory and methods for sediment analysis: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 5, chap. C1, 58 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3133/twri05C1.]
- Helsel, D.R., Hirsch, R.M., Ryberg, K.R., Archfield, S.A., and Gilroy, E.J., 2020, Statistical methods in water resources:
 U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 4, chap. A3, 458 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3133/tm4A3.] [Supersedes USGS Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 4, chap. A3, version 1.1.]

Kansas Department of Health and Environment, 2014, Kansas-lower Republican Basin total maximum daily load, Milford Lake, eutrophication and dissolved oxygen: Kansas Department of Health and Environment, 57 p., accessed December 26, 2019, at https://www.kdhe.ks.gov/ DocumentCenter/View/14056/Milford-Lake-EU-PDF.

- Kansas Department of Health and Environment, 2020, KDHE HABs historical data: Kansas Department of Health and Environment web page, accessed February 13, 2020, at https://www.kdhe.ks.gov/829/KDHE-HABs-Historical-Data.
- Milford Watershed Regional Conservation Partnership Program, 2021, Milford Watershed Regional Conservation Partnership Program: Milford Watershed Regional Conservation Partnership Program web page, accessed September 21, 2021, at https://www.milfordwatershed.org/rcpp.
- Mueller, D.K., Schertz, T.L., Martin, J.D., and Sandstrom, M.W., 2015, Design, analysis, and interpretation of field quality-control data for water-sampling projects: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 4, chap. C4, 54 p., accessed July 2020 at https://doi.org/ 10.3133/tm4C4.
- Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium, 2021, NLCD 2019 land cover (CONUS): Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium digital data, accessed September 3, 2021, at https://www.mrlc.gov/data/nlcd-2019-land-cover-conus.
- Painter, C.C., and Loving, B.L., 2015, U.S. Geological Survey quality-assurance plan for surface-water activities in Kansas, 2015: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2015–1074, 33 p., accessed June 17, 2021, at https://doi.org/ 10.3133/ofr20151074.
- Patton, C.J., and Kryskalla, J.R., 2003, Methods of analysis by the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory—Evaluation of alkaline persulfate digestion as an alternative to Kjeldahl digestion for determination of total and dissolved nitrogen and phosphorus in water: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 2003–4174, 33 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3133/ wri034174.]
- Patton, C.J., and Kryskalla, J.R., 2011, Colorimetric determination of nitrate plus nitrite in water by enzymatic reduction, automated discrete analyzer methods: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 5, chap. B8, 34 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3133/tm5B8.]

- Patton, C.J., and Truitt, E.P., 1992, Methods of analysis by the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory—Determination of total phosphorus by a Kjeldahl digestion method and an automated colorimetric finish that includes dialysis: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 1992–0146, 39 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr92146.]
- Patton, C.J., and Truitt, E.P., 2000, Methods of analysis by the U.S. Geological Survey National Water Quality Laboratory—Determination of ammonium plus organic nitrogen by a Kjeldahl digestion method and an automated photometric finish that includes digest cleanup by gas diffusion: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2000–0170, 31 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr00170.]
- PRISM Climate Group, 2021, Time series values for individual locations: PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University web page, accessed October 26, 2021, at https://www.prism.oregonstate.edu/explorer/.
- R Core Team, 2021, R—A language and environment for statistical computing, version 4.0.3 (Bunny-Wunnies Freak Out): Vienna, Austria, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, accessed June 17, 2021, at https://www.Rproject.org/.
- Rasmussen, P.P., Gray, J.R., Glysson, G.D., and Ziegler, A.C., 2009, Guidelines and procedures for computing time-series suspended-sediment concentrations and loads from in-stream turbidity-sensor and streamflow data: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 3, chap. C4, 52 p. [Also available at https://doi.org/10.3133/tm3C4].
- Rasmussen, T.J., Bennett, T.J., Stone, M.L., Foster, G.M., Graham, J.L., and Putnam, J.E., 2014, Quality-assurance and data-management plan for water-quality activities in the Kansas Water Science Center, 2014: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2014–1233, 41 p., accessed June 17, 2021, at https://doi.org/10.3133/ofr20141233.
- Sauer, V.B., and Turnipseed, D.P., 2010, Stage measurement at gaging stations: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 3, chap. A7, 45 p., accessed June 17, 2021, at https://doi.org/10.3133/tm3A7.
- Turnipseed, D.P., and Sauer, V.B., 2010, Discharge measurements at gaging stations: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 3, chap. A8, 87 p., accessed June 17, 2021, at https://doi.org/10.3133/tm3A8.

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1997, Method 440.0— Determination of carbon and nitrogen in sediments and particulates of estuarine/coastal waters using elemental analysis (revision 1.4): Cincinnati, Ohio, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 10 p., accessed January 5, 2022, at https://permanent.fdlp.gov/lps68138/m440_0.pdf.
- U.S. Geological Survey, 2006, Collection of water samples (ver. 2.0, September 2006): U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A4, 166 p., accessed June 17, 2021, at https://doi.org/ 10.3133/twri09A4.
- U.S. Geological Survey, 2016, Policy and guidance for approval of surrogate regression models for computation of time series suspended-sediment concentration and loads: U.S. Geological Survey Office of Surface Water Technical Memorandum 2016.07, Office of Water Quality Technical Memorandum 2016.10, 40 p., accessed June 17, 2021, at https://water.usgs.gov/water-resources/memos/ memo.php?id=467.
- U.S. Geological Survey, 2017, Procedures for processing, approving, publishing, and auditing time-series records for water data: U.S. Geological Survey, Office of Water Quality Technical Memorandum 2017.07, accessed June 17, 2021, at https://water.usgs.gov/admin/memo/QW/qw2017.07.pdf.
- U.S. Geological Survey, 2021, USGS water data for the Nation: U.S. Geological Survey National Water Information System database, accessed June 17, 2021, at https://doi.org/ 10.5066/F7P55KJN.
- Wagner, R.J., Boulger, R.W., Jr., Oblinger, C.J., and Smith, B.A., 2006, Guidelines and standard procedures for continuous water-quality monitors—Station operation, record computation, and data reporting: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 1, chap. D3, 51 p. plus 8 attachments, accessed June 17, 2021, at https://doi.org/ 10.3133/tm1D3. [Supersedes USGS Water-Resources Investigations Report 2000–4252.]
- YSI, Inc., 2017, EXO user manual—Advanced water quality monitoring platform (rev. G): Yellow Springs, Ohio, YSI, Inc., 154 p., accessed December 21, 2019, at https://www.ysi.com/file%20library/documents/manuals/ exo-user-manual-web.pdf.

Appendix 1. Model Archive Summary for Suspended Sediment at U.S. Geological Survey Station 06856600, Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, during July 2018 through March 2021

The model archive summary for suspended sediment is available for download at https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20225016. The model archive summary documents model-specific information including, but not limited to, exploratory, statistical, and cross-validation plots and the model-calibration datasets and definitions.

Appendix 2. Model Archive Summary for Total Nitrogen at U.S. Geological Survey Station 06856600, Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, during July 2018 through March 2021

The model archive summary for total nitrogen is available for download at https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20225016. The model archive summary documents model-specific information including, but not limited to, exploratory, statistical, and cross-validation plots and the model-calibration datasets and definitions.

Appendix 3. Model Archive Summary for Total Phosphorus at U.S. Geological Survey Station 06856600, Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, during July 2018 through March 2021

The model archive summary for total phosphorus is available for download at https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20225016. The model archive summary documents model-specific information including, but not limited to, exploratory, statistical, and cross-validation plots and the model-calibration datasets and definitions.

Appendix 4. Model Archive Summary for Total Carbon at U.S. Geological Survey Station 06856600, Republican River at Clay Center, Kansas, during July 2018 through March 2021

The model archive summary for total carbon is available for download at https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20225016. The model archive summary documents model-specific information including, but not limited to, exploratory, statistical, and cross-validation plots and the model-calibration datasets and definitions.

For more information about this publication, contact: Director, USGS Kansas Water Science Center 1217 Biltmore Drive Lawrence, KS 66049 785–842–9909

For additional information, visit: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/kswsc

Publishing support provided by the Rolla Publishing Service Center

≥USGS

ISSN 2328-0328 (online) https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20225016